1970

Skaggs Drug Centers, Inc. v. Raedel E. Ashley, Et Al. v. Gary Montgomery, Et Al. v. John Doe 1-5, Et Al., Grand Central, Inc., And Gary Montgomery v. A. U. Cooper, Dba Kearns I.G.A. Foodliner, Et Al : Brief of Appellant Skaggs Drug Centers, Inc.

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a consolidation of three actions brought in the District Court of Salt Lake County under Chapter 25, Laws of Utah 1970, commonly referred to as the "Common Day of Rest Act" (the "Act"). Case No.

192780 brought by plaintiff Skaggs Drug Centers, Inc. against defendant individuals and corporations operating licensed pharmacies in Salt Lake County, seeks a temporary and permanent injunction restraining said defendants from violating the Common Day of Rest Act and damages against defendants for violating said Act during the pendency of the action. Case No. 192886 was brought by plaintiffs Gary Montgomery, Alan K. Jepsen, Richard Harrington, Henry Skidmore, Gary L. Paxton and Larry R. Keller, as private individuals, and Case No. 192948 was brought by Gary Montgomery, as a private individual, against defendants operating places of business in Salt Lake County. These two cases seek a permanent injunction restraining the defendants from violating the Act.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

In a consolidated hearing limited to the question of constitutionality, Judge Leonard W. Elton, in a decision from the bench on May 12, 1970, held that Utah's Common Day of Rest Act, Chapter 25, Laws of Utah 1970 was, in its entirety, in violation of the provisions of the Constitution of Utah. In an Order of Dismissal entered May 18, 1970, defendants' various Motions for Dismissal and Motions for Summary Judgment were granted and the consolidated actions were dismissed with prejudice.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiffs seek to have the judgment of the lower court reversed and the Common Day of Rest Act declared constitutional.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Immediately prior to the hearing below, all parties hereto, both plaintiffs and defendants, stipulated in open court that the question of constitutionality was ripe for decision.

The facts are not in dispute. The only facts before the court were stipulated between all the parties hereto, which stipulation has been included in the Record on Appeal.

On Sunday, April 5, 1970, in Case No. 192780, individuals shopped and made purchases at stores named as defendants, all of which were open to the public and conducted and operated in the usual manner and location. Defendants are all individuals or corporations operating businesses for profit, containing a licensed pharmacy on the premises and selling items at retail to members of the public in competition with the business operated by plaintiff Skaggs.

On Sunday, April 5, 1970, in Case No. 192886 the individual plaintiffs shopped at defendant stores and made purchases named in that complaint. None of the stores so named had filed a notice of intent to remain closed on Saturday.

On Sunday, April 12, 1970, in Case No. 192948 individual plaintiff Montgomery, shopped at defendant stores and made purchases named in that complaint. None of the stores so named had filed a notice of intent to close on Saturday.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

CREATING A COMMON DAY FOR REST AND RECREATION IS A PROPER LEGISLATIVE EXERCISE OF THE POLICE POWER AND DOES NOT CONTRAVENE FIRST AMENDMENT PROTECTIONS OF FREEDOM OR ESTABLISHMENT OF RELIGION.

Cessation of normal commercial activities on Sunday, by legislation or executive fiat, has a lengthy and broad history. Beginning as a Christian edict, Exodus 20:8-11, 23:12, 31:12-17; Deuteronomy 5:12-15; perpetuated as a God-fearing rule by secular leaders, *Gallagher v. Crown-Kosher Super Market*, 366 U.S. 617, 625, 6 L.Ed.2d 536, 541, 81 S.Ct. 1122 (1961) quoting a 1671 pronouncement of the Plymouth Colony; it has been implemented throughout the ages until now some form of Sunday closing exists in 49 of the 50 states, *McGowan v. Maryland*, 366 U.S. 420, 495, 6 L.Ed.2d 393, 81 S.Ct. 1101 (1961) (Frankfurter's separate opinion; *see also* Appendix II thereto).

Like Christmas, Easter and many other customs and traditions which were essentially religious in origin, Sunday has remained a special day, but essentially for secular purposes: for rest and relaxation, for visiting with family and friends, for recreation and playing.

That a state may enact a common day of rest as a valid exercise of the police power has been recognized by the Supreme Courts of Utah and of the United States.

As early as 1903 the Supreme Court of Utah recognized the validity of Sunday closing laws:

General laws prohibiting the transaction of business on the first day of the week, commonly called Sunday, are so uniformly upheld by the courts as a legitimate exercise of the police power of the state that it is unnecessary to cite or discuss authority in support thereof.

* * *

In *Cooley*, Const.Lim. §734, the author says on Sunday laws: 'There can no longer be any question, if there ever was, that such laws may be supported as regulations of police. *State v. Sopher*, 25 Utah 318, 71 Pac. 482 (1903).

In 1943 Chief Justice Wolfe in *Broadbent v. Gibson*, 105 Utah 53, 140 P.2d 939, 943, stated that:

The constitutionality of general Sunday closing laws, which have been enacted in nearly every state, is no longer to be doubted. Such statutes have been uniformly upheld. (Cites omitted.)

* * *

Although these statutes had their origin in religious observance of the Sabbath, they are not now to be so regarded. Their purpose is to protect society by establishing a compulsory day of rest.

See also Gronlund v. Salt Lake City, 113 Utah 284, 194 P.2d 464, 466.

Characterizing Sunday closing laws as a valid exercise of the police power, Justice Frankfurter stated:

Throughout this century and longer, both the federal and state governments have oriented their

activities very largely toward improvement of the health, safety, recreation and general well-being of our citizens. Numerous laws affecting public health, safety factors in industry, laws affecting hours and conditions of labor of women and children, week-end diversion at parks and beaches, and cultural activities of various kinds, now point the way toward the good life for all. Sunday Closing Laws, like those before us, have become part and parcel of this great governmental concern wholly apart from their original purposes or connotations. The present purpose and effect of most of them is to provide a uniform day of rest for all citizens; the fact that this day is Sunday, a day of particular significance for the dominant Christian sects, does not bar the States from achieving its secular goals. To say that the States cannot prescribe Sunday as a day of rest for these purposes solely because centuries ago such laws had their genesis in religion would give a constitutional interpretation of hostility to the public welfare rather than one of mere separation of church and State. *McGowan, supra*, at 444-445.

Despite the wide discretion a legislature has in acting within an area which the courts have unequivocally held to be a valid exercise of the police power for creating a day in which an atmosphere of diversion for rest and recreation is established, the citizenry and the courts are understandably sensitive because that day is Sunday, a day which in this nation and particularly in this State has religious connotations.

In 1961, the United States Supreme Court was directly confronted with a First Amendment attack on Sunday closing laws. They held, in an eight to one decision in

McGowan v. Maryland, *supra*, at 449, the major case in a series of cases sustaining Sunday closing legislation, that:

The statutes' present purpose and effect is not to aid religion but to set aside a day of rest and recreation.

Despite religious language in the statutes, such as referring to Sunday as the "Lord's Day" and the "Sabbath," the Supreme Court held that the purpose and effect of common day of rest statutes was secular: "... We believe that the aim of the day is one of relaxation rather than religion," *McGowan v. Maryland*, *supra*, at 448. "... We do not find that the present statutes' purpose or effect is religious," *Gallagher*, *supra*, at 630. "... We hold that neither the statute's purpose nor its effect is religious," *Two Guys From Harrison-Allentown v. McGinley*, 366 U.S. 582, 598, 6 L.Ed.2d 551, 561, 81 S.Ct. 1135 (1961), reh. den. 368 U.S. 869, 82 S.Ct. 21, 7 L.Ed.2d 69.

It has been contended that the Saturday option (§5(5)) is a discriminatory religious preference as a direct aid to religion and therefore violates the First Amendment. It is true that the Saturday option will alleviate an economic burden from those businesses which must close on Saturday because of religious dictates. But it cannot be said as a matter of logic or common sense that by deleting a possible religious discrimination the State is thereby aiding and preferring religion. Anyone covered by the Utah act may elect the option, for whatever reason. The mom and pop neighborhood gro-

cery store may elect to close on Saturday as may the Kosher delicatessen. That section is complied with by the ministerial act of filing, without fee, a notice of intent to close on Saturday.

The United States Supreme Court in *Braunfeld v. Brown*, 366 U.S. 599, 6 L.Ed.2d 563, 81 S.Ct. 1144 (1961) held that a Sunday closing law was constitutional without a Saturday option but that "a number of States provide such an exemption, and this may well be the wiser solution to the problem" at 608.

POINT II

WHEN THE ACT IS INTERPRETED IN LIGHT OF ITS PURPOSE IT APPLIES UNIFORMLY TO ALL AND IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE.

The purpose of the Act is to establish a common day of rest as a diversion from the customary labors of the work-a-day world to a change of pace for rest and recreational activity. The Act asserts this as its purpose and it is not competent for this or any other court to assume another and possibly unconstitutional purpose.

Rest and recreation is clearly an important public purpose and should be endorsed and the means chosen by the Legislature to promote this purpose should be upheld even though enforced rest or recreation for all citizens at the same time is neither required nor desirable. In our complex and interdependent society a total cessation of commercial and business activity *at any time* is

both impossible and undesirable. Hence, some forms of activities and services must be excluded from coverage. And this raises questions of equal protection and due process. But the courts recognize that legislatures do not act in a vacuum; they do not require that legislatures create rules based on neat and tidy abstract logical constructs which collapse when the realities of life are injected into them. As Frankfurter stated in *McGowan*, *supra*, at 524:

Neither the Due Process nor the Equal Protection Clause demands logical tidiness . . . No finicky or exact conformity to abstract correlation is required of legislation. The Constitution is satisfied if a legislature responds to the practical living facts with which it deals. Through what precise points in a field of many competing pressure a legislature might most suitably have drawn its lines is not a question for judicial re-examination. It is enough to satisfy the Constitution that in drafting them the principle of reason has not been disregarded.

In addition to the United States Constitution, Article I, §24 and Article VI, §26 of the Utah Constitution are regarded as requiring equal protection of laws. These provisions of the Utah Constitution are construed together and are violated if a statute creates "an unreasonable classification, resulting in a failure of uniform applicaiton of the general law," *Abrahamsen v. Board of Review of Industrial Commission*, 3 U.2d 289, 283 P.2d 213, 215 (1955). Under the Act there is a discriminatory treatment in the sale of goods in that some classes are exempted from compulsory closing. Equal

protection of laws does not prevent classification and discrimination in legislative treatment of a subject. All that is required is that there be "a reasonable basis to differentiate those included from those excluded," *Entre Nous Club v. Toronto*, 4 U.2d 98, 287 P.2d 670, 674 (1955).

In determining reasonableness the court does not make a policy judgment as to the wisdom of the legislation, *Broadbent v. Gibson, supra*, at 944, and will invalidate legislation only if the classifications and discrimination are unreasonable and arbitrary, *State v. Mason*, 94 Utah 501, 78 P.2d 920, 117 A.L.R. 330, 333 (1938). Legislation passes that test so long as there is "some basis" that "bears a reasonable relation to the purposes to be accomplished by the Act," *Ibid*.

This court, in *Broadbent v. Gibson, supra*, at 944 established the following standard for equal protection:

In determining whether or not this classification is unconstitutional, it must be remembered that discrimination is the very essence of classification and is not objectionable unless founded upon distinctions which the court is compelled to find unreasonable. (Cites omitted.) The legislature has a wide discretion in determining what shall come within the class of permitted activities and what shall be excluded. (Cites omitted.)

A court is not concerned with the wisdom or policy of the law and cannot substitute its judgment for that of the legislative body. If reasonable minds might differ as to the reasonableness of the regulation, the law must be upheld.

This standard was also expressly adopted in *Gronlund v. Salt Lake City, supra*, at 466.

The classifications in the Utah statute are founded upon a rational basis and apply uniformly to all. The exemptions are based on classifications of commodities, not types of businesses. Thus, the exempted items may be sold by anyone, at any time, on any day. As Justice Wolfe stated, "This type of statute is almost uniformly upheld," *Broadbent*, *supra* at 467.

Gronlund offers no clue as to how that exemption should be worded, but some clue is provided in *Broadbent*, *supra*, at 945-946:

Unless such an implied exemption [for works of necessity] were read into the act none of the exempted businesses could sell *sick room supplies* other than *compounded medicines*. There are other business activities involving the sale of items *necessary to the maintenance of life and health* which are not specifically exempted from the general closing provision, *yet the legislature cannot under such a statute constitutionally prohibit the sale of such items.* (emphasis added).

Despite the fact that the phrase "works of necessity" has been constitutionally upheld in other states, *Berta v. Georgia*, 154 So. 2d 594 (Ga. 1967), *Opinion of the Justices*, 229 A.2d 188 (N.H., 1967), *State v. Solomon*, 141 S.E.2d 818 (S.C., 1965), *State v. Gates*, 141 S.E.2d 369 (W.Va. 1965), *Arlan's Department Store v. State*, 369 S.W.2d 9 (Ky. 1963), the Utah Legislature chose to be more specific by following the implication of *Broadbent* and exempted:

The sale of goods or rendering of services necessary to the maintenance of health, safety

and life, such as, by way of example and not by way of limitation, medical or hospital goods or services and prescription medicine.

There are also activities which, of inherent necessity, cannot, in this complex, inter-dependent society in which we live, ever be interrupted or halted without disastrous consequences: transportation and communication facilities, public utilities and privately owned plants which by their nature require continuous operation. The existence of exemptions does not violate constitutional guarantees of equal protection, *McGowan, supra*, at 427. Who would argue that on Sunday there should be no electricity or telephone service, or that airplanes shouldn't land in Utah or that blast furnaces (which take days to heat) should be shut off? It would seem that the Legislature could find that there was a reasonable basis on which to exempt this class—at least facts may be conceived to justify it, *McGowan, supra*, at 426, or reasonable minds might so believe, *Broadbent, supra*, at 944—and the class, by definition, provides equal treatment to those similarly situated.

People traveling through the state compose a reasonable class for exemption because they, by necessity, require certain goods and services to travel. Their activities in the state are subject to the same standards as Utah citizens; only goods and services essential to travel—the characteristic which distinguishes them and makes them a class—are exempt.

It is a proper purpose of a common day of rest act to facilitate certain activities, *McGowan, supra*, at 426. "By 'rest' was not meant inaction. It was recognized that in this modern age recreation or change of activity is a form of rest," *Broadbent, supra*, at 945. The exemptions of goods and services normally associated with or incidental to the operation of recreational, educational or entertainment facilities emphasize the secular purposes of a common day of rest by facilitating recreational diversion from one's normal labors.

The classifications of the Maryland statute which was upheld by the United States Supreme Court in *McGowan*, seem capricious and discriminatory when compared to the Utah Act. See Appendix to the opinion in *McGowan, supra*, at 453, et seq. The Maryland statute exempts retail outlets employing not more than one person other than the owner, Maryland Ann. Code, Art. 27, §521(b), while the Utah statute exempts anyone who sells exempted items or renders exempted services. The Maryland statute exempts the sale of alcoholic beverages in some counties, at some hours during the day, by some types of licensees in some districts, Maryland Ann. Code, Art. 2B, §28 (a) (2) and (3), §90 (A) (1) and (2), (b) (1) and 2), while the Utah statute uniformly exempts the sale of all beverages, by anyone, anywhere, at any time of the day. The Maryland statute also permitted a differential treatment of the same activities between different counties of the state, at different hours of the day and at different distances from churches where religious services were being held, *McGowan, supra*, at 424.

The categories of the Pennsylvania statutes seem arbitrary and unreasonable in light of the Utah Act. For example:

The Sunday exhibition of motion pictures is permitted only after 2 p.m., and then only if the voters in each municipality approve; however, religious motion pictures may be shown by churches at any time providing they are shown within church property and no admission price is charged. Baseball, football and polo receive similar treatment except the permitted hours are between 1 p.m. and 7 p.m. Public concerts, of music of high order though not necessarily sacred, may only be performed after noon. *Two Guys From Harrison-Allentown v. McGinley, supra*, at 586.

Indeed, when compared to the state statutes at issue in the 1961 Sunday closing cases, the Utah Act is model legislation in clarity and rationality.

It has been contended that because the Utah constitutional provisions for equal protection are worded differently from the federal constitutional requirement, that *something more* is required by our Constitution. No case law has been found to substantiate this claim. Indeed, Justice Wolfe in *Broadbent v. Gibson, supra*, cites the United States Supreme Court case of *Nebbia v. New York*, 291 U.S. 502, 54 S.Ct. 505, 78 L.Ed. 940, 89 A.L.R. 1469 (1934) in his discussion of due process and equal protection standards to be applied to Sunday closing legislation. That landmark case, sustaining a state's right to set minimum prices in the sale of retail milk, held that the court will not examine the wisdom of the policy established by the Legislature, *Id. at* 537; that the

standard "demands only that the law shall not be unreasonable, arbitrary or capricious, and that the means selected shall have a real and substantial relation to the object sought to be attained," *Id.* at 525. The Utah Supreme Court, by its reliance on *Nebbia*, has adopted at least for Sunday closing cases, the same approach to equal protection and due process problems as the United States Supreme Court—an approach which renders the 1961 Sunday closing cases decided by the United States Supreme Court highly persuasive authority, if not controlling, to the questions at hand under the Utah Constitution.

The contention that this court should, in interpreting Article I, §24 and Article VI, §26 of the Utah Constitution, make a determination as to the wisdom of the legislation, has serious constitutional infirmities (separation of powers) and constitute a departure from established judicial policy. If such a rule were adopted in this case it would compel the court, in all cases wherein the questions of equal protection were raised, to act as the final arbiter of legislative wisdom and policy. Substantive due process as a method of substituting the court's judgment for the judgment of the legislature was discredited by the United States Supreme Court in the 1930's. Such judicial substitution of judgment has not been the policy of this court and, it is submitted, should not now be adopted.

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