1970

**Skaggs Drug Centers, Inc. v. Raedel E. Ashley, Et Al. v. Gary
Montgomery, Et Al. v. John Doe 1-5, Et Al., Grand Central, Inc., And
Gary Montgomery v. A. U. Cooper, Dba Kearns I.G.A. Foodliner, Et
Al : Brief of Respondent**

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

Section 26 further provides that:

"In all cases where a general law can be applicable, no special law shall be enacted."

Closely allied to the question of whether legislation is discriminatory under equal protection or uniform operation provisions is the question of whether it also

discriminates because it constitutes special legislation. Thus, in *Justice v. Standard Gilsonite Company*, 12 Utah 2d 357, 366 P.2d 974 (1961), this court invalidated legislation on the grounds that it violated not only Sections 2 and 24 of Article I, but also Section 26 of Article VI of the Utah Constitution. The legislation in that matter imposed a penalty upon employers who failed to pay wages to separated employees within twenty-four hours from demand, but exempted, inter alia, banks and mercantile houses. The court concluded that there was no reasonable basis for excluding banks and mercantile houses from the penalty provisions, and that the Act therefore constituted class legislation.

In *Backman v. Salt Lake County*, 13 Utah 2d 412, 375 P.2d 756 (1962), this court rejected several claims of unconstitutionality, but held that Civic Auditorium and Sports Arena Act of 1961 unconstitutional on the basis that it constituted special legislation, violating the requirement that where a general law can be applicable no special law shall be enacted. The holding of the court was based upon the ground that the act provided for a commission to operate auditoriums only in counties having over 250,000 population.

See also *Openshaw v. Halpin*, 24 Utah 420, 68 Pac. 138 (1902), *Brubaker v. Bennett*, 19 Utah 401, 57 Pac. 170 (1899).

The courts of many other states have held statutes creating special privileges or disabilities invalid under the special legislation prohibitions of their own consti-

tutions. In *Stanton v. Mattson*, 175 Neb. 767, 123 N.W. 2d 844 (1963), the court stated the test as follows (p. 848):

“If [parties] are clearly within the general scope and reason of the act, so that the provisions exempting them from its operation arbitrarily permit them to act in contravention of its terms and purpose which are forbidden to the public at large, there can be no doubt that the statute must fail.”

Additional cases so holding are *Cleland v. Anderson*, 66 Neb. 252, 92 N.W.306 (1902); *Louisville & N.R.R. Company v. Faulkner*, 307 S.W.2d 196 (Ky., 1957); and *Harvey v. Board of Chosen Freeholders*, 30 N.J. 381, 153 A.2d 10 (1959). The courts have also held that the constitutional prohibition against special legislation imposes a standard additional to the more general requirement of equal protection of the law. See, e.g., *Sarner v. Union T.W.P.*, 151 A.2d 208, 55 N.J. Super. 528 (1959).

The prohibition against special legislation has been applied by this court in connection with closing statutes. In *Saville v. Corless*, *supra.*, it said (p. 52):

“We also think the act special legislation. It only applies to cities of 10,000 population or over. Business houses or commercial establishments in other cities and towns may keep open at all hours of the day or night and sell anything not otherwise forbidden by law. The act further exempts drugstores and commercial houses dealing exclusively in, or whose major portion of stock consists of, foodstuffs, meats, and provisions of a perishable nature. Under the act, such establishments

or houses can keep open and sell anything after six o'clock * * * Clearly that is special legislation, and the granting of privileges forbidden by the Constitution."

The present Act's stated purpose (Section 1) is: " * * * to promote weekly rest from the routine of daily affairs * * * [while] permit[ing] conduct of certain labor and the sale of certain goods and services which are vital to the maintenance of basic functions of the community or which are necessary to the existence of facilities for diversion, recreation or relaxation."

In reviewing many of the numerous institutional and commodity exemptions, however, it is difficult to conceive of their relationship to the avowed purpose. The Act, for example, excludes all activities of every governmental agency regardless of how vital to maintenance of the basic functions of the community or how necessary to the pursuit of recreation and relaxation. It exempts all sales or services essential or even incidental to operations which are "customarily" continuous without regard to the necessity for such continuous operations. It exempts extraction or processing of natural resources whether or not continuous operation is required. This exclusion affects a substantial portion of the state's labor force with no logical basis; there is no reason why employees of many enterprises engaged in the extraction and processing of natural resources cannot stop and give their employees Sunday off as easily as many other industries. Clearly this exclusion has been made for the benefit of a special class, whose opposition to the Act would otherwise have made its passage impossible.

In addition to the exemptions specifically granting preferential status to certain businesses, there are other exemptions which have the obvious effect of precluding feasible operation of some businesses while permitting the operation of others. This court in *Gronlund v. Salt Lake City, supra.*, made it known that it could not close its eyes to the necessary effect of such exemption provisions.

A distinct, but somewhat related, objection to the Act is that it constitutes an unconstitutional exercise of the police power. A state, like any branch of government, has limited powers, and acts which go beyond the scope of its powers are ineffectual. It has long been recognized that the police power of the state is limited to measures which promote the public health, morals, safety and the like. When a state attempts to adopt arbitrary measures, having no relationship to these police power objectives, they are void under the Federal and state constitutions. The basic case expounding this doctrine is *Mugler v. Kansas*, 123 U.S. 623, 8 Sup. Ct. 273 31 L.Ed. 205 (1887), by which prior decisions declining to interfere with state measures allegedly exceeding the police power were overruled. In its decision, the United States Supreme Court stated (p. 661) :

“The courts are not bound by mere forms, nor are they to be misled by mere pretenses. They are at liberty—indeed, are under a strong duty—to look at the substance of things, whenever they enter upon the inquiry whether the legislature has transcended the limits of its authority. If, therefore, a statute purporting to have been enacted to

protect the public health, the public morals, or the public safety, has no real or substantial relation to those objects, or is a palpable invasion of rights secured by the fundamental law, it is the duty of the courts to so adjudge and thereby give effect to the Constitution.”

This court has frequently followed the holding of *Mugler v. Kansas*. It has been cited by the court so often that the proposition is beyond challenge. See for example, *Sol Block & Griff v. Schwartz*, 27 Utah 387, 76 Pac. 22 (1904) and *State v. Certain Intoxicating Liquors*, 51 Utah 569, 172 Pac. 1050 (1918). The principle was, in fact, applied by the court to invalidate closing legislation in the Utah cases cited above.⁶

In *Gronlund v. Salt Lake City, supra.*, the court said (p. 466):

“The authority of a state to enact Sunday closing laws is generally referable to the police power of the state * * *

“Such being the case, the narrower question confronts us: Is the ordinance of Salt Lake City adapted to accomplish the objects or some of them for the accomplishment of which the power is granted, or is it rather an arbitrary exercise of the assumed grant of power and hence not within the intendment of the legislative grant of power and therefore violative of constitutional guarantees against unreasonable discrimination?”

In answering the question and holding the ordinance invalid, the court stated (p. 467):

⁶*Saville v. Corless*, 46 Utah 495, 151 Pac. 51 (1915); *Broadbent v. Gibson*, 105 Utah 53, 140 P.2d 939 (1943); and *Gronlund v. Salt Lake City*, 113 Utah 284, 194 P.2d 464 (1948).

“* * * we find the prohibitions of the ordinance bear no reasonable relationship to the objectives to be accomplished by enactments made pursuant to such grant. Of this ordinance, it can be said that ‘there is no fair reason for the law that would not require with equal force its extension to others which it leaves untouched.’”

Another class specifically granted special privileges are those enterprises associated with recreation, such as shops at resorts, ski lodges, golf courses and the like. While it may be argued that one of the main purposes of the Act is to promote rest and recreation, as stated by this court in *Gronlund v .Salt Lake City, supra.*, (p. 468) :

“* * * even considering the desirability of promoting recreational activity on Sunday, no fair reason suggests itself as to why their sale should be permitted on Sunday while the sale of other commodities is prohibited. Neither sporting equipment nor nursery products are such from the standpoint of the buyer or seller that they cannot be purchased on a weekday, though it is the intention of the buyer to use the equipment and plant the tree or flowers on a Sunday. Neither is likely to deteriorate over Saturday night or be depleted during Sunday. Boxing gloves and baseball bats are at least as staple as butter and bananas.”

As suggested by this court in *Gronlund*, cases dealing with the police power present an additional question. Justice Straup in *State v. Salt Lake Tribune Publishing*, 68 Utah 187, 249 Pac. 474 (1926), cited the following rule: (p. 478-479) :

“In order that a statute or ordinance may be sus-

tained as an exercise of the police power, the courts must be able to see (1) that the enactment has for its object the prevention of some offense or manifest evil for the preservation of the public health, safety, morals, or general welfare, and (2) that there is some clear, real, and substantial connection between the assumed purpose of the enactment and the actual provisions thereof, and that the latter do in some appreciable and appropriate manner tend towards the accomplishment of the object for which the power is exercised."

The Common Day of Rest must be held invalid under both tests. The avowed purpose of the Act is to provide a common day of rest for the citizens of the state. The legislature expressly recognized the importance of effecting its purpose when it stated (Section 1):

"The legislature finds that the number of such persons or persons (sic) who would close their businesses on Saturday in order to be open on Sunday is small enough in this state that this exception does not impair the purposes of a uniform day of rest."

This, respondents suggest, proved to be an erroneous assumption. But the purpose of the Act was even more impaired by its numerous and indefinite exceptions. The breadth of these exceptions eliminate any possibility that the Act would operate to promote the public health, morals or safety or in accomplishing its stated purpose. It contains so many exceptions that it is effectively (and designedly) directed at a particular class of business, not only entirely lawful, but essential to the state. Most employees in the state are not affected

by the Act, and even those who are can be denied the common day of rest, merely by their employer staying closed on Saturday.

Considering the Act as a whole it is clear that the legislature acted on the theory that its powers are plenary—an assumption clearly untenable. As stated in *Lochner v. New York*, 198 U.S. 45, 25 Sup. Ct. 539, 49 L. Ed. 934 (1905), and cited with approval in *State v. Salt Lake Tribune Publishing Company*, *supra*. (p. 479):

“It is impossible for us to shut our eyes to the fact that many of the laws of this character, while passed under what is claimed to be the police power for the purpose of protecting the public health or welfare, are, in reality, passed from other motives. We are justified in saying so when, from the character of the law and the subject upon which it legislates, it is apparent that the public health or welfare bears but the most remote relation to the law. The purpose of a statute must be determined from the natural and legal effect of the language employed; and whether it is or is not repugnant to the Constitution of the United States must be determined from the natural effect of such statutes when put into operation and not from their proclaimed purpose
* * *

V

IN ATTEMPTING TO DECLARE SOMETHING TO BE A NUISANCE WHICH IS NOT ONE IN FACT, THE LEGISLATURE ACTED ARBITRARILY AND BEYOND ITS POWERS.

In an apparent effort to minimize constitutional objections to the Act, the legislature provided that any violation thereof should not be deemed a crime "but is declared to be a public nuisance" (Section 6). In doing so, it violated other constitutional prohibitions. This is but a specific example of the more general requirement that legislation must come within the police power. The rule is generally stated in 66 C.J.S., Nuisances, §7 (d) as follows:

"The power of the legislature to control and regulate nuisances is not without restriction, and it must be exercised within constitutional limitations. The power cannot be exercised arbitrarily, or oppressively, or unreasonably. It does not lie within the power of the legislature to declare any or every act a nuisance. It cannot make anything, not in its nature a nuisance, a nuisance by mere declaration that it is so: * * *"

Decisions from many jurisdictions support the above rule. In *Smith v Costello*, 77 Ida. 205, 290 P.2d 742 (1955), the legislature passed an act providing that "any dog running at large in territory inhabited by deer, is hereby declared to be a public nuisance and may be killed at such time by any game conservation officer * * *." The Idaho Supreme Court, in holding the statute unconstitutional, noted that a dog was not a nuisance per se and that territory inhabited by deer might be construed to be any place in the state where deer was found. It stated (p. 744):

"Governmental regulations promulgated under police power must be consistent with the due

process of law provision and subordinate thereto. Police regulations cannot arbitrarily and without any sufficient reason authorize the killing or wounding of animals belonging to another. *The legislature cannot declare something to be a nuisance which is not one in fact or per se; and to declare that a dog running at large in territory inhabited by deer is a public nuisance, without more, is arbitrary, unreasonable and unconstitutional regulation.*" [Emphasis added.]

In *City of Ft. Worth v. McDonald*, 293 S.W.2d 256 (Civ. App. Tex., 1956), the Ft. Worth City Council had passed an ordinance finding that pinball machines encouraged idleness, loafing, vagrancy, and gambling and declaring them to be nuisances per se. The court holding the ordinance to be unconstitutional stated (p. 258) :

"It is no better argument that the city has power by charter and statute to define and prevent a nuisance. It is axiomatic that no legislative body may 'by an arbitrary standard, declare that to be a nuisance which is not so in fact.'"

Another case is *First Avenue Coal & Lumber Co. v. Johnson*, 54 So. 598 (Ala., 1911), wherein the Alabama Supreme Court stated (p. 599) :

"The Legislature, therefore, cannot, by its mere ipse dixit, make that a nuisance which is not in fact or in truth a nuisance, or akin thereto. That which has none of the elements or characteristics of a nuisance, that has no capacity or tendency to injure the public health, public morals, the public safety, or the public interest, cannot be made a

nuisance by the legislature, under the guise of a police legislation declaring it such.”

In *State v. Smith*, 47 S.W.2d 642 (Ct. Civ. App. Tex., 1932), the legislature had passed an act making it unlawful to plant cotton on land on which cotton had been planted the year before or to plant more than 30% of his land in cotton. The purpose of the act was to prevent soil erosion and the spreading of certain cotton diseases. Violation of the act was declared to be a public nuisance and subject to injunction by the county attorneys of the state. The court holding the act unconstitutional stated (p. 644-645):

“Our courts, both federal and state, uniformly hold that the Legislature cannot, in the guise of a police regulation, declare that to be a nuisance which in fact is not a nuisance * * *

“No contention is made that the growing of cotton is inherently wrong or that it in any way affects the health or morals of the state * * *

“Another principle involved in the exercise of the police power which it is hardly necessary to state, is that a mere legislative declaration that a business or occupation, harmless and innocuous in itself, is inimical to the public interest, either as a whole or as to some feature of its conduct, cannot make it so, unless by reason of surrounding conditions the declaration can be said to accord with the fact as based upon common observation and human experience.”

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